Joint Supplements Frequently Asked Questions

Contents

Topic

page

Does information from human studies really apply to horses?	2
Why use glucosamine?	.2
How does glucosamine work?	.3
Why glucosamine <u>sulfate</u> ?	.3
Why not use glucosamine HCL?	3
Why not use chondroitin sulfate and glucosamine HCL?	5
Why not use injectable treatments such as Adequan, Legend,	
or HA (hyaluronic acid)?	5
What about oral HA (hyaluronic acid)?	5
Is glucosamine safe?	6
Does glucosamine increase the sugars in your horse's diet?	6
Will glucosamine help prevent future arthritis problems?	7
What is the correct dose?	7
Are there any clinical studies on horses taking glucosamine?	7
Is methylsulfonylmethane (MSM) effective?	8
Is Vitamin C helpful?	9

DOES INFORMATION FROM HUMAN STUDIES REALLY APPLY TO HORSES?

The following information includes studies on humans and horses**, both in the laboratory or the results of actual clinical testing.

The simple answer is we don't know for sure, but a great deal of it could be relevant. Much that we have learned about nutrition, drug treatment, and disease has come from animal studies. So applying human information to horses makes sense – as long as one is cautiousparticular about safety. Compared to human studies, there is less scientific information about joint problems available from studies actually done on horses, but what is available is very promising.

**If you would like more technical information about studies on joint therapies specifically in horses, I refer you to the excellent reviews by DV Richardson (1) or JE Decant (2)

A. GLUOSAMINE

WHY USE GLUCOSAMINE?

There is more information available about glucosamine (G) than any other supplement used for joint health. This is primarily because – in the sulfate form - it seems to be effective for human use (3, 4), as well as for animals (primarily horses and dogs) (5, 6). Arthritis is a major illness in people, and pharmaceutical companies compete intensely for market share in this area. As a result, we have many "arthritis drugs." Aspirin was the first truly effective remedy in the NSAID group developed for human arthritis. But now there are many others (Ibuprofen, Naprosyn, Celebrex, to name just a few). Glucosamine may have some of the same anti-inflammatory and pain relieving effects of NSAIDS, with the added benefit of fewer side effects, and it may actually help restore the integrity of cartilage in the joints, (which NSAIDS do not appear to be able to accomplish).

HOW DOES GLUCOSAMINE WORK?

There is considerable confusion and debate about this. Originally, it was suggested that the glucosamine molecule may actually be incorporated into the cartilage structure itself – making it stronger. Some studies suggest that the actual amounts of glucosamine absorbed into the blood and joint fluid may be too low to actually form building blocks in cartilage, but may stimulate growth of cartilage in other ways. In addition glucosamine may activate (or inhibit) other chemical reactions that slow the breakdown of cartilage (7-11). Cartilage, like other tissues in the body, is always simultaneously growing and breaking down. It is the balance between the two that is important. For example, if bone growth is faster than break down, then bones will heal and grow stronger. But if breakdown is faster than growth, then bones get thinner and osteoporosis results. Glucosamine may also work to reduce production of substances which cause inflammation in tissues (12, 13), whereas chondroitin does not have this anti-inflammatory benefit (14)

WHY GLUCOSAMINE SULFATE?

The glucosamine molecule is available commercially in several forms. The usual types found in commercial supplements is glucosamine attached to sulfate (GS) or to hydrochloric acid (GHCL). Most of the many human studies on glucosamine have been done with GS. Relatively few studies have been done with GHCL. Many have been sponsored by Rotta, a major European pharmaceutical company that brought GS to market and therefore to the attention of the nutraceutical and medical communities. Glucosamine sulfate (GS) seems to be more effective than GHCL (15). The sulfate part of GS contains a sulfur atom, and sulfur is an important part of the chemical structure of cartilage. Many experts feel that the sulfur is just as important as the glucosamine, and together they work effectively (4, 16). (Note – sulfur may also be provided by MSM or chondroitin sulfate (CS) in some supplements). Other researchers feel this is not clear, and that more information is needed (17, 18).

WHY NOT USE GLUCOSAMINE HCL?

Glucosamine HCL (GHCL) <u>used alone</u> is probably not effective. A recent review of all human G studies concluded that some studies showed benefit for joint disease, and other studies did not show any benefit. Interestingly, most of the studies that showed a benefit used GS, while most of those with no benefit used GHCL(19). A recent study conducted by the National Institutes of Health concluded that moderate or minimal benefit resulted from use of GHCL combined with CS (20), whereas either ingredient alone had no benefit. A similar result was found in a laboratory study of equine joint cartilage (21). This makes sense if you realize that you need both the glucosamine and the sulfur together to have maximal benefit. In addition, a recent study in horses found that no GHCL was detectable in the blood after oral feeding (22).

Even more convincing, was a study conducted at Michigan State University, looking at the ability of GHCL to prevent joint damage (23). Standardbreds just beginning race training were divided into two groups. One group received glucosamine HCL at the dosage recommended on the label of a commercial product (4 grams twice a day). The placebo group was given glucose (sugar) at the same dosage. Horses were put on a training regimen for 48 weeks, with periodic blood sampling. The authors concluded that GHCL had no recognizable effect on cartilage protection at the dosage administered. This conclusion was supported by the fact that there was no difference in the changes of concentration of the three biochemical markers of osteoarthritis between the treatment and placebo groups.

Glucosamine Sulfate has better absorption than GHCL. In horses, following oral administration of a clinically recommended dose of GS, higher levels were found in plasma and in synovial (joint) fluid, compared to an equivalent dose of GHCL (5).

This new information has been summarized by Dr. David Davenport (DVM, MS), a Certified Nutritional Specialist (24):

".... new studies have proven that only Glucosamine SULPHATE 2KCI (Potassium Salt) and Glucosamine Sulphate NACI (Sodium Salt) actually get to the joint tissues. Recent studies have shown that very little Glucosamine HCI gets into the joint tissue, yet many of the Glucosamine supplements that you find in national chain stores contain this form of Glucosamine rather than Glucosamine Sulphate. Glucosamine HCI does not contain a sulphur source and, therefore, has NO EFFECT on the body in that form. It is necessary for it to undergo changes before it can be used in connective tissues. The HCI must be removed and a sulphate added. Because of this, Glucosamine HCl is not sold by itself, but, rather, with other ingredients that provide the sulphur. One of the most popular ingredients added to supplements that use Glucosamine HCl is Chondroitin Sulfate. The problem with Chondroitin Sulfate is that it has larger molecules, which affects how well it gets into the joints. Even with the best Chondroitin Sulfate on the market, as much as 70% ends up in the urine and feces."

WHY NOT USE CHONDROITIN SULFATE AND GLUCOSAMINE HCL

This is certainly an option. In fact, most joint supplements (for humans or for horses) contain these ingredients. But, as described above, this combination may be less well absorbed than pure glucosamine sulfate, and may not be as effective. Further, GHCL alone is probably not effective alone. (25). There is also strong evidence that the chondroitin part of the CS molecule is just not well absorbed from the horse's intestine (22) However, several human clinical trials show benefit from CS alone (26) (possibly due to the presence of the sulfate)

WHY NOT USE INJECTABLE TREATMENTS SUCH AS ADEQUAN, LEGEND, HA (HYALURONIC ACID)?

These injectables have a chemical structure similar to glucosamine, and can be loosely described as a long chain of glucosamine-like molecules, strung together to form a viscous liquid. If these compounds are injected directly into the horse (into muscle or IV), or directly into the joints, they can be very effective in relieving arthritis and/or overall joint stiffness. But such treatments are obviously much more expensive than oral supplements, and do require repeated injections. (Injections always carry some risk of infection or tissue trauma).

WHAT ABOUT ORAL HA (HYALURONIC ACID)?

HA can be very effective when injected directly into the joint (both in horses and humans) (1, 27). But the evidence that it works well as an oral supplement is still very weak. There have been only 2 published studies that actually look at oral dosing in horses. The first study shows oral HA may speed post-operative healing in young thoroughbreds, but no evidence it works in general arthritis in horses, or is good for prevention (28). A second found that oral HA did not improve joint swelling caused by osteochondrosis in young horses.

Unfortunately, many supplement manufacturers are still promoting it, using poor scientific evidence. For example, in 2010, the Hyaluronex web site cites "research" studies done on mice, not horses!!

Another problem with oral HA is the actual molecular size of the HA can vary, and some sizes may be better absorbed that others (1). It is difficult to know the actual size of the HA in the supplement you buy. And finally, HA is very expensive, and would add at least a dollar a day to the cost of the supplement. So when you see someone trying to sell you HA in an oral supplement, ask them to show you the study IN HORSES that proves it really works, and at doses that are affordable, and that you are actually getting exactly the same HA molecule that was used in the studies.

If and when oral HA is clearly shown to be effective for horses, it would be important to know whether or not it is actually <u>more</u> effective than less expensive supplements containing glucosamine sulfate. Interestingly, glucosamine is actually a precursor of HA, and is used by the body to manufacture naturally-occurring HA.

IS GLUCOSAMINE SAFE?

Glucosamine in all forms has no known toxicity, and is very safe. This has been confirmed repeatedly in horse and human studies (2, 29). In a recent study on absorption, horses were given 10 times the usually dose, and still had no adverse effects (30)

DOES GLUCOSAMINE INCREASE THE SUGARS IN YOUR HORSE'S DIET?

Glucosamine, given at standard doses, cannot add enough sugar to the diet to cause a problem for Insulin Resistant (IR) horses. There is a growing awareness among horse owners that many horses may develop insulin resistance, a metabolic condition where horses have a problem processing carbohydrate/sugar rich feeds. These horses are more susceptible to developing laminitis, loss of muscle mass, abnormal coat, and easily become obese (31, 32). Since glucosamine contains a glucose molecule, it could theoretically contribute to sugar in the horse's diet. However, a simple calculation shows that it could only increase the total dietary carbohydrate by a few percent, even with a low carbohydrate diet. (So if your horse is now on a 10.0% carbohydrate diet, addition of glucosamine would change this to only 10.3%). The same concern has been raised about diet in people with diabetes (which also causes insulin resistance). Several studies have shown that this is not likely to be a problem for humans either; addition of G to the diet of diabetic patients does *not* increase their average blood sugar levels (33, 34).

WILL GLUCOSAMINE HELP PREVENT FUTURE ARTHRITIS PROBLEMS?

GS may actually help restore damaged cartilage. That is, it may have preventive effects that could actually provide long term protection for the joint. Most of this information comes from human studies. A recent study showed significant cartilage repair in knee joints after 3 years of GS use (20).

WHAT IS THE CORRECT DOSE?

The usual dose recommended for humans is probably about 1500 mg daily. Doses for horses in commercial supplements cover a wide range. But if one extrapolates from human doses to equine, based on body weight, then an equivalent dose for horses is about 8 to10 gms daily (8,000 to 10,000 mg). This is similar to doses used in horse studies that show improvement with use of joint supplements (35, 36)

ARE THERE ANY CLINICAL STUDIES ON HORSES TAKING GLUCOSAMINE?

Many of the equine studies described above have either been laboratory studies or have looked at various measures of absorption, or biochemical markers in the blood, etc. Very few studies have actually evaluated the ability of these supplements to improve lameness in horses in clinical trials.

In 2006, results of a long term study on working show hunter/jumpers was reported. This was a crossover study (not double blind or placebo controlled) that evaluated 10 horses over 8 years. Before given supplementation with GCHL and CS, they needed 1.7 joint injections per year. About 6 months after beginning the supplement, fewer joint injections (0.85 per year) were needed to maintain the same level of performance (37).

Two additional clinical studies in horses used Cosequin® powder (glucosamine HCL, chondroitin sulfate, and a small amount of Vitamin C) for treatment of lameness caused by osteoarthritis or navicular disease (35, 36). In both studies, lameness scores and clinical scores improved as a result of treatment. The osteoarthritis study used the recommended label dose of Cosequin®, but was not blinded or controlled. The second study on navicular lameness was double-blinded and placebo controlled, with significant improvement in investigator scores at 8 weeks, but less improvement in owner scores during the same period. This study was well designed, but used doses of Cosequin© that were twice the label dosage recommendations. This was the first randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial in the horse.

Another important study was carried out by Dr, Hilary Clayton at University of Michigan (38). She conducted a double blind study comparing use of Cortaflex® to placebo in working horses with some degree of stiffness and asymmetric gait. She used pressure plates for gait evaluation, and found some improvement in range of motion and smoothness of gait after only 2 weeks of supplement use. (Cortaflex® contains precursors of glucosamine and chondroitin.)

B. METHYLSULFONYLMETHANE (MSM)

In spite of its widespread use, MSM really hasn't been studied all that much. In humans, MSM has been evaluated mainly as a treatment for allergy - to help reduce inflammation. In theory, MSM, which is closely related to DMSO chemically, may reduce muscle pain and spasm. It is also helpful for arthritis pain in the knee and spine (39-42).

There have been two studies in horses that have demonstrated some benefit. The aim of the first study was to determine if supplementation with MSM and Vitamin C could alleviate exercise-induced oxidative stress in horses undergoing jumping competition. This stressful exercise caused significant changes in the blood levels of substances associated with stress and injury. Twenty-four horses were divided into 2 groups, and each group given a different treatment diet: control (without supplementation), or MSM (about 4 grams a day), or combined supplements (MSM 4 grams + Vitamin C 21/2 grams daily). MSM administration significantly ameliorated all these exercise-related changes in the blood. This effect was potentiated by Vitamin C so that these substances returned to levels similar to those found before competition. The authors of this study concluded:

"These results suggest that jumping exercise induces harmful

effects on horses, probably due to an increase in oxidative damage and proinflammatory molecules. In addition, we have demonstrated that MSM could exert some protective effect on oxidative and inflammatory exercise-induced injury. The addition of Vitamin C was even more beneficial. (43)."

An earlier uncontrolled study evaluated training times in racing standardbred horses. MSM supplementation appeared to significantly improve training times (44). Because MSM has a high content of sulfur, it may help with cartilage structure (similar to the sulfur in GS). Toxicity and safety profile are good.

In summary, MSM may have significant benefit for horses, even though the scientific evidence is scanty (3).

C. VITAMIN C

Vitamin C has been studied extensively -- both in the laboratory and in human and animal studies. It is well know as an "antioxidant." This is a molecule that may inactivate harmful substances in the body called "free radicals" which can cause various types of cellular damage. Vitamin C is also commonly used as an antioxidant preservative in foods and many animal feeds, since it helps prevent deterioration In humans, Vitamin C is used for treatment and/or prevention of various ailments including the common cold. There continues to be considerable scientific controversy about uses of Vitamin C since some studies showing benefit, others not. The dose is one of the critical factors. Unfortunately, many human clinical studies have used very low doses (less than 100 mg daily) even though many experts believe higher doses are necessary to show any benefit (2000 to 10000 mg daily). But it is generally agreed that vitamin C supports synthesis of collagen (important component of elastic and muscle tissues), stimulates activity of certain white blood cells, and speeds healing of wounds. It is an antioxidant as well.

In horses, studies on racing thoroughbreds (45) and endurance horses (19) who were given Vitamin C orally, demonstrated that higher levels of Vitamin C reach the blood during exercise, which may prevent cellular damage. Vitamin C is also used as an effective treatment for recurrent airway obstruction in horses,

9

also called "heaves" (46). This is very similar to asthma in humans. More importantly for our purposes, vitamin C may protect cartilage from degeneration. One long term (uncontrolled) study on lame horses showed significant improvement in 9 of 10 animals (47). Even in very high doses, vitamin C doesn't have any adverse effects. Doses should probably be at least several grams daily to be effective.

This is still a young field, and we will know much more ten years from now. In the meantime, using joint supplements for your horse has no known real risk, and often has a great deal of benefit!

RECOMMENDED READING -- MEDICAL AND VETERINARY LITERATURE

 McAlindon TE 2006 Nutraceuticals: do they work and when should we use them? Best Practice and Research Clinical Rheumatology 20(1):99-115
Goodrich, L.A., Nixon, A.J., 2005. Medical treatment of osteoarthritis in the horse – a review. The Veterinary Journal, doi:10.1016

3. Trumble, TN 2005. The Use of Nutraceuticals for Osteoarthritis in Horses. Vet. Clinics. N. America – Equine Practice 21(3):575-597

BIBLIOGRAPHY/LITERATURE CITED

1 Richardson DV LR. An Evidence-Based Approach to Selected Joint Therapies in Horses. Vet Clin Equine. 2007;23(443-460).

2 Dechant JE BG. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulphate as structure modifying agents in horses. Eqiome Vet Education. 2007;19(2):90-6.

3 Herrero-Beaumont G IJ, Del Carmen Trabado M, Blanco FJ, Benito P,, Martín-Mola E PJ, Marenco JL, Porto A, Laffon A, Araújo D, Figueroa M, Branco. Glucosamine sulfate in the treatment of knee

osteoarthritis symptoms: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study using acetaminophen as a side comparator. Arthritis Rheum. 2007;56(2):555-67.

4 McAlindon T, . Nutraceuticals: do they work and when should we use them? Best Practice and Research Clinical Rheumatolog. 2006; 20(1):99-115.

5 Meulyzer M VP, Beaudry F, Vinardell T, Richard H, Beauchamp G LS. Comparison of pharmacokinetics of glucosamine and synovial fluid levels following administration of glucosamine sulphate or glucosamine hydrochloride. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2008;16(9):973-9.

6 Trumble T. The Use of Nutraceuticals for Osteoarthritis in Horses. Veterinary Clinics of North America Equine Practice. 2005;21:575-97.

7 Chan PS CJ, Rosa GJM, Orth MW. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate regulate gene expression and synthesis of nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2 in articular cartilage explants. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2005;13:387-94.

8 Dodge GR JS. Glucosamine sulfate modulates the levels of aggrecan and matrix metalloproteinase-3 synhesized by cultured human osteoarthritis articular chondrocytes. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2003;11(424-32).

9 Fenton JI KAC-B, T. L. Peters, J. P. Caron* and M. W. Orth. The effects of glucosamine derivatives on equine articular cartilage degradation in explant culture. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2000;8:444-51.

10 Ilic MZ MB, Handley CJ. . Effects of long-term exposure to glucosamine and mannosamine on aggrecan degradation in articular cartilage. Osteoarthritis Cartilage. 2003;11(8):613-22.

11 Orth MW PT, Hawkins JN. . Inhibition of articular cartilage degradation by glucosamine-HCl and chondroitin sulphate. . Equine Vet J Suppl 2002;34:224-9.

12 Heisel J, KK F. [Therapy of osteoarthritis crystalline glucosamine sulphate/a review of the clinical effcacy]. Arzneimittelforschung. 2007;57(4):203-17.

13 Herrero-Beaumont G RL, Castaneda S, Alvarez-Soria MA, Largo R The reverse glucosamine sulfate pathway: application in knee osteoarthritis. Source: Expert Opinion in Pharmotherapy 2007;8(2):216-25.

14 Hua J SK, Nagaoka I. Inhibitory actions of glucosamine, a therapeutic agent for osteoarthritis, on the functions of neutrophils. J Leucocyte Biol. J Leucocyte Biol. 2002;71:632-40.

15 Poolsup N SC, Channark P, Kittikulsuth W. Glucosamine long-term treatment and the progression of knee osteoarthritis: systematic review of randomized controlled trials. [Journal Article, Meta-Analysis, Review]. *Ann Pharmacother*. 2005;39(6):1080-7.

16 Hoffer LJ KL, Hamadeh MJ, Grigoriu AC, Baron M. Sulfate could mediate the therapeutic effect of glucosamine sulfate. Metabolism. 2001;50(7):7767-70.

17 Black C CC, Henderson R, MacEachern C, McNamee P, Quayyum Z, Royle P, Thomas S The clinical effectiveness of glucosamine and chondroitin supplements in slowing or arresting progression of osteoarthritis of the knee: a systematic review and economic evaluation. [Journal Article, Review] . Health Technol Assess 2009 Nov; 13(52):1-148. 2009;13(52):1-148.

18 Block JA OT, Sand JD, Plaas A. The effects of oral glucosamine on joint health: is a change in research approach needed? Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2010;18(5-11).

19 Arthritis, Center aGI. Update on Glucosamine and Chondroitin Sulfates for Degenerative Joint Disease. Industry sponsored website. 2008.

20 Bruyere O, JY. R. Glucosamine and chondroitin sulfate as therapeutic agents for knee and hip osteoarthritis. Drugs Aging. 2007;24(7):573-80.

21 Dechant JE BG, Frisbie DD, Trotter GW, McIlwraith CW. Effects of glucosamine hydrochloride and chondroitin sulphate, alone and in combination, on normal and interleukin-1 conditioned equine articular cartilage explant metabolis. Equine Vet J. 2005;37(3):227-31.

22 Welch CA PG, , Gibbs PG, Eller EM Plasma Concentration of Glucosamine and Chondroitin Sulfate in Horses after an Oral Dose. J Equine Veterinary Science. 2011;32:60-4.

23 Caron J .P PT, Hauptman JP, et al. Serum concentrations of keratan sulfate, osteocalcin, and pyridinoline crosslinks after oral administration of glucosamine to standardbred horses during race training. American Journal of Veterinary Research, 2002;63(8):1106-10.

24 Davenport D. Joint Supplements: The Good, the Bad, and the Useless. [cited; Available from: http://www.equinearthritis.com/jointsup_print.html

25 Reginster JY, Bruyere O, A N. Current role of glucosamine in the treatment of osteoarthritis. Rheumatology. 2007;46(5):731-5.

26 Jeroch. Effects of Glucosamine and Chondroitin Sulfate on Cartilage Metabolism in OA: Outlook on Other Nutrient Partners Especially Omega-3 Fatty Acids. Int J Rheumatol 2011; 2011: 969012 published online. 2011.

27 Frisbie DD KC, McIlwraith CW, Werpy NM. Evaluation of polysulfated glycosaminoglycan or sodium hyaluronan administered intra-articularly for treatment of horses with experimentally induced osteoarthritis. Am J Vet Res. 2009;70(2):203=9.

28 Bergin BJ PS, Bramlage LR, Stromber A. Oral hyaluronan gel reduces post operative tarsocrural effusion in the Equine Veterinary Journal. 2006;38(4):375-8.

29 Anderson JW NR, Borzelleca JF. Glucosamine effects in humans: a review of effects on glucose metabolism, side effects, safety considerations and efficacy. Food and Chemical Toxicology 2005;43:187–201.

30 Dua j NW, Natalie D. Eddingtona,*. The Bioavailability and Pharmacokinetics of Glucosamine Hydrochloride and Chondroitin Sulfate after Oral and Intravenous Single Dose Administration in the Horsse. Biopharm Drug Dispos. 2004;25:109-16.

31 Frank N. Insulin Resistance in Horses. AAEP Proceedings. 2006;52:51-4.

32 Kellon E. Treatment - Insulin Resistance. http://www.ecirhorse.com/index.php/treatmentinsulinresistance

33 Albert SG OR, Parseghian S MA, Haas MJ, McPherson T The effect of glucosamine on serum HDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein AI levels in people with diabetes. Diabetes Care 2007;20(11):2800-3.

34 Scroggie DA AA, Harris MD. The Effect of Glucosamine-Chondroitin

Supplementation on Glycosylated Hemoglobin Levels in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

A Placebo-Controlled, Double-blinded, Randomized Clinical Trial. Arch Intern Med 2003;163:1587-1590. 2003;163:1587-90.

35 Hanson RR HT, Brawner WR. Oral Treatment with a Nutraceutical (Cosequin®) for Ameliorating Signs of Navicular Syndrome in Horses. Veterinary Therapeutics 2001;2(2):148-59.

36 Hanson RR SL, Huff GK, White S,, TA. H. Oral Treatment with a Glucosamine-Chondroitin Sulfate Compound for Degenerative Joint Disease in Horses: 25 Cases. Equine Practice. 1997;19(9):19-22.

37 Rodgers M. Effects of Oral Glucosamine and Chondroitin Sulfates Supplementation on Frequency of Intra-articular Therapy of the Horse Tarsus. Intern J Appl Res Vet Med • Vol 4, No 2, 2006. 2006;4(2):155-62.

38 Clayton H, BVMS P, MRCVS; Patricia E. Almeida, MS, DVM;, Marta Prades D, Diplomate ACVS, Diplomate ECVS; Jennifer Brown, DVM;, Caroline Tessier DaJLL, BS, MS. Double-Blind Study of the Effects of an Oral Supplement Intended to Support Joint Health in Horses with Tarsal Degenerative Joint Disease. AAEP Proceedings. 2002;48:314-7.

39 Brien S PP, Bashir N, Lewith H, Lewith G. Systematic review of the nutritional supplements dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) and methylsulfonylmethane (MSM) in the treatment of osteoarthritis. [Journal Article. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2008;16(11):1277-88.

40 Debbi EM AG, Fichman G, Ziv YB, Kardosh R, Halperin N, Elbaz A, Beer Y, Debi R Efficacy of methylsulfonylmethane supplementation on osteoarthritis of the knee: a randomized controlled study. [Journal Article, Randomized Controlled Trial, Research MC . BMC Complement Altern Med 2011;50.

41 Kim LS AL, Howard P, Buratovich N. Efficacy of MSM in osteoarthritis pain of the knee: a pilot clinical trial. Osteoarthritis and Cartilage 2006;14(3):266-94.

42 Stuber K SS, Kristmanson K Efficacy of glucosamine, chondroitin, and methylsulfonylmethane for spinal degenerative joint disease and degenerative disc disease: a systematic review. J Can Chiropr Assoc 2011;55(1):47-55.

43 Marañón G M-EB, Manley W, García C, Cayado P, Sánchez de la Muela M, Olábarri B, León R, Vara E. The effect of methyl sulphonyl methane supplementation on biomarkers of oxidative stress in sport horses following jumping exercise. Acta Vet Scand. 2008;50(1):45-54.

44 Riegel R. The Correlation of Training times, thermographic and Serum Chemistry levels to provide evidence as to the efectiveness of the use of oral Alavis MSM upon the musculature of the racing standardbred, Carolwood Corporation, Greenville, PA. 2002;

http://www.ion-silver.com/docs/Alavis_Racehorse_Study.pdf

45 White A EM, Walker K, Wisnia P, Filgueira G, Valdes F, Araneda O, Behn C, Martinez R. Role of exercise and ascorbate on plasma antioxidant capacity in thoroughbred race horses. Comp Biochem Physiol A Mol Integr Physiol. 2001;128(1):99-104.

46 Newman N. Use of a Calcium Ascorbate Supplement in Therapy of Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. AAEP Proceedings 1997;43:401-2.

47 Hochberg MC. Editorial: Nutritional Supplements for Knee Osteoarthritis - Still No Resolution. New England J of Medicine. 2006;354(8):858-60.